

United States Department of Agriculture

Forest Service

Rocky Mountain Research Station

General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-223

May 2009



Manual for Computing Bed Load Transport Using BAGS (Bedload Assessment for Gravel-bed Streams) Software

John Pitlick, Yantao Cui, Peter Wilcock







	Pitlick, John; Cui, Yantao; Wilcock, Peter. 2009. Manual for computing bed load transport using BAGS (Bedload Assessment for Gravel-bed Streams) Software. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-223. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 45 p.
Abstract	
	This manual provides background information and instructions on the use of a spreadsheet-based program for Bedload Assessment in Gravel-bed Streams (BAGS). The program implements six bed load transport equations developed specifically for gravel-bed rivers. Transport capacities are calculated on the basis of field measurements of channel geometry, reach-average slope, and bed material grain size. Calculations are carried out using Visual Basic for Applications (VBA), and the output is stored on individual spreadsheets. In addition to step-by-step instructions in software operation, the manual provides guidance in the interpretation of results.
The Authors	
	John Pitlick, Department of Geography, University of Colorado, Boulder, CO.
	Yantao Cui, Stillwater Sciences, Berkeley, CA.
	Peter Wilcock, Department of Geography and Environmental Engineer, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD.

You may order additional copies of this publication by sending your mailing information in label form through one of the following media. Please specify the publication title and series number.

Fort Collins Service Center

Telephone	(970) 498-1392
FAX	(970) 498-1122
E-mail	rschneider@fs.fed.us
Web site	http://www.fs.fed.us/rm/publications
Mailing address	Publications Distribution
_	Rocky Mountain Research Station
	240 West Prospect Road
	Fort Collins, CO 80526

Rocky Mountain Research Station 240 W. Prospect Road Fort Collins, Colorado 80526

Disclaimer

BAGS is software in the public domain, and the recipient may not assert any proprietary rights thereto nor represent it to anyone as other than a Governmentproduced program. BAGS is provided "as-is" without warranty of any kind, including, but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. The user assumes all responsibility for the accuracy and suitability of this program for a specific application. In no event will the U.S. Forest Service, Stillwater Sciences Inc., Johns Hopkins University, University of Colorado, or any of the program and manual authors be liable for any damages, including lost profits, lost savings, or other incidental or consequential damages arising from the use of or the inability to use this program.

Download Information

The BAGS program, this manual, and a sediment transport primer (Wilcock and others 2009) can be downloaded from: http://www.stream.fs.fed.us/publications/ software.html.

This publication may be updated as features and modeling capabilities are added to the program. Users may wish to periodically check the download site for the latest updates.

BAGS is supported by, and limited technical support is available from, the U.S. Forest Service, Watershed, Fish, Wildlife, Air, & Rare Plants Staff, Streams Systems Technology Center, Fort Collins, CO. The preferred method of contact for obtaining support is to send an e-mail to rmrs_stream@fs.fed.us requesting "BAGS Support" in the subject line.

U.S. Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station Stream Systems Technology Center 2150 Centre Ave., Bldg. A, Suite 368 Fort Collins, CO 80526-1891 (970) 295-5986

Acknowledgments

Support for software development and preparation of the users manual was provided through a cost-share agreement between the University of Colorado and the U.S. Forest Service Stream Systems Technology Center. We thank John Potyondy for initiating this project and providing suggestions on software components. We would also like to thank Kristin Bunte for sharing her bed load data from Halfmoon Creek and providing feedback on software operations. Erich Mueller conducted tests of the initial version of the software. Finally, we would like to acknowledge Paul Bakke, John Buffington, and John Potyondy for providing numerous thoughtful comments on the initial draft of the manual. Their suggestions lead to significant improvements in the structure and clarity of the manuscript.

Contents

Acknowledgmentsi
Background on Data Input and Software Operation1
The Sediment System1
Overview of BAGS Software Operation
Basic Data Input Requirements4
Bed Load Transport Equations
Surface-Based Bed Load Equation of Parker (1990)10
Substrate-Based Bed Load Equation of Parker-Klingeman-Mclean (1982)12
Substrate-Based Equation of Parker-Klingeman (Parker and Klingeman 1982)12
Surface-Based Two-Fraction Equation of Wilcock (2001)13
Surface-Based Relation of Wilcock and Crowe (2003)14
Procedure of Bakke and others (1999)15
Data Input Requirements15
Software Operation16
Assessing Model Output
How Good Are the Raw Data?
Comparisons of Model Output With Bed Load Measurements28
Assessing Model Output Without the Benefit of Bed Load Data
References

Background on Data Input and Software Operation

This manual for computing bed load transport provides specific instructions on the use of BAGS (Bedload Assessment of Gravel-bed Streams) software with worked examples illustrating typical results and comments on possible interpretations of the output. The BAGS software calculates bed load transport capacities on the basis of commonly available field data (surveyed cross sections and measured grain size distributions) and stores the output as tabulated values on individual spreadsheets. These values can be retained for further analyses or exported to other programs for plotting and visualization. Options within the program allow the user to select from six transport relations developed specifically for gravel-bed streams and rivers. Transport rates can be calculated for a single flow or a series of flows, depending on the application and data availability. The first section of this manual gives an overview of the basic data requirements and introduces some important concepts shared by each of the bed load transport relations-all users should read this section! Details of the transport relations and their various components are presented in the second section. The third and fourth sections describe the steps involved in running the software. The final section provides several examples illustrating results from different model runs and discusses problems that might arise in typical applications. This manual is a companion to "Sediment Transport Primer: Estimating Bed-Material Transport in Gravel-bed Rivers" (Wilcock and others 2009).

The Sediment System

Each of the models used in calculating bed load transport rates has some common data input requirements, these include:

- a measured channel cross section (or, at a minimum, an estimate of the bank-full width);
- an estimate of the reach-average slope, obtained from measurements of watersurface elevations or bed elevations;
- discharge measurements (and a flow duration curve if one of the goals is to estimate the long-term annual bed load sediment yield); and
- grain size parameters estimated from samples of the bed sediment.

The primary differences in software operation and data inputs center around sediment properties and various measures of these properties. In gravel-bed streams, we can separate the "sediment system" into three distinct components, as illustrated in figure 1. The sediment we typically see on the **bed surface** consists of relatively coarse clasts representing the largest grain sizes carried by the



Figure 1. Distinction between the bed surface layer (armor) and the substrate, as commonly found in gravel-bed streams and rivers.

stream or river. Winnowing of finer particles from the bed surface produces a distinct layer with a thickness approximately equal to the diameter of the coarsest grains. This sediment is referred to as the **surface layer** or armor. The sediment immediately beneath the surface layer consists of a more homogeneous mixture of fine and coarse particles and is referred to as the **substrate** or bulk bed material. The substrate is generally much finer than the surface layer, and typically 10 to 20 percent of this sediment is finer than gravel (<2 mm). The third component of the sediment system is the **bed load** itself. This sediment is, by definition, the material that moves in contact with the bed.

We can illustrate the differences in sediment characteristics graphically by plotting the distribution of particle sizes as cumulative frequency curves. Figure 2 presents two examples of grain size distributions based on sediment samples taken in two gravel-bed rivers. Both data sets include measurements of the bed load, bed surface layer, and substrate. The panel on the left shows that the bed load carried by the Salmon River is much finer than the substrate—the



Figure 2. Grain size distributions of the bed load, surface layer, and substrate in two gravel bed rivers. Salmon River data obtained through the Boise Adjudication Team web site (http://www.fs.fed.us/rm/boise/research/watershed/BAT). Fall River data from Pitlick (1993).

substrate, in turn, is much finer than the bed surface. In this case, the three components of the sediment system are quite distinct from each other and it does not appear that much of the load is derived from the bed. In contrast, the panel on the right shows that the bed load carried by Fall River has nearly the same size distribution as the substrate. The similarity in bed load and substrate grain size distributions suggests a clear link between the load and the source: in this case, it appears that the bed load and substrate grain sizes exchange with each other almost on a one-for-one basis.

The examples shown in figure 2 are more or less representative of the range of conditions one is likely to encounter in measuring or modeling transport rates in gravel-bed streams. However, it would be difficult to know in advance whether a given stream in a specific geographic location should act more like the Salmon River or Fall River, and it would be impossible to determine this without extensive sampling. Results from field studies and flume experiments suggest that the separation between bed load and substrate grain-size distributions is related to variations in hydrology, boundary shear stress, and/or sediment supply, although these interactions are not very well understood (Barry and others 2004; Buffington and Montgomery 1999; Dietrich and others 1989; Hassan and Church 2001; Hassan and others 2006; Lisle 1995; Mueller and others 2005; Parker 1990a; Pitlick and others 2008; Powell and others 2001; Wathen and others 1995). Ultimately, all of the sediment carried by a river is supplied by the watershed; however, over the short time scales of individual flow events, some of the bed load may be derived from the bed itself and some from sources outside the channel (for example, stream banks or hillslopes). Success in predicting bed load transport rates hinges to a large extent on the availability of mobile sediment sizes within the channel boundary, but it is not always obvious that conditions at a particular location do or do not satisfy this requirement.

Overview of BAGS Software Operation

The BAGS software described in this manual implements six well-known bed load transport equations developed specifically for gravel-bed rivers:

- the surface-based equation of Parker (1990);
- the substrate-based equation of Parker-Klingeman-McLean (Parker and others 1982);
- the substrate-based equation of Parker and Klingeman (1982);
- the surface-based two-fraction equation of Wilcock (2001);
- the surface-based equation of Wilcock and Crowe (2003); and

• the procedure of Bakke and others (1999), which calibrates two coefficients in the substrate-based equation of Parker and Klingeman (1982).

All of the equations and procedures recognize the role of the armor layer in regulating bed load transport rates, thus the dynamics of transport are represented by the three components discussed above: the surface layer, substrate, and bed load. The equations of Parker (1990a), Wilcock (2001), and Wilcock and Crowe (2003) apply surface grain size characteristics as inputs, while the Parker-Klingeman-McLean equation (Parker and others 1982) uses substrate grain sizes. The method of Bakke and others (1999) applies to either the surface or the substrate, depending on circumstances. In addition, the methods of both Wilcock (2001) and Bakke and others (1982) use bed load measurements to calibrate certain coefficients in the transport equations and procedures.

The equations and procedures are implemented in an MS-Excel workbook with Visual Basic for Applications (VBA). Field data and relevant parameters are entered into the program sequentially with a series of user prompts. Results of the calculations are presented in MS-Excel workbooks. The software is designed to be used by professionals (hydraulic engineers, fluvial geomorphologists, and hydrologists) with some familiarity and training in processes of sediment transport. The correct interpretation of the results, however, typically requires a more in-depth knowledge of fluvial processes, especially the dynamics of transport in gravel-bed rivers.

Basic Data Input Requirements

Grain size

Representative samples of the bed surface layer or the substrate are required in order to develop a cumulative frequency distribution of available grain sizes. Sample values are entered into the program as a listing of the percentage of particles finer than a given size, *D*, where *D* is measured in millimeters. Different methods are used to sample the surface and the substrate. The surface layer is sampled by using some variation of the method introduced by Wolman (1954), or by taking a volumetric sample of the surface layer down to the depth of the largest clasts, as described by Milhous (1973). Substrate samples are taken by excavating a pre-determined mass of sediment from beneath the surface layer. There are many important issues to consider in sampling the surface layer and substrate, and we won't go into these details here. Procedures for sampling surface and substrate sediment and criteria for establishing sample sizes are described in detail in a number of papers and reports, including Kellerhals and Bray (1971), Church and others (1987), and Bunte and Abt (2001). Figure 3 shows an example of the data listing for a point count of the surface layer and the resulting grain size distribution. The difference between the finest and coarsest grain sizes in a sediment sample is typically quite large, thus the grain size curve is plotted using a logarithmic scale for the x axis (fig. 3).

For convenience, a Ψ scale is also used to represent grain size, as shown on the secondary x axis. The Ψ scale varies with the base 2 logarithm of the grain size:

$$\Psi = \frac{\log D}{\log 2}, \text{ or } D = 2^{\Psi}$$
(1a,b)

where *D* is in mm. The Ψ scale used here is identical to the ϕ -scale used in sedimentology, except the sign is reversed, resulting in positive values of Ψ for *D*>1 mm. If the sample values are split at even increments of $\Psi = 1, 2, 3...$ and so forth, then the grain size distribution is said to be sampled (or sieved) at 1- Ψ intervals. If higher resolution is required, sample values can be split at smaller intervals, for example, $1/2\Psi = 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, ...$ and so forth. The grain size distribution and data listed in figure 3 show measurements obtained at $1/2-\Psi$ intervals.

The software calculates transport rates and bed friction coefficients on the basis of discrete values of the grain size distribution, D_i , where the subscript *i* refers to an individual percentile of the grain size distribution. The midpoint of the distribution corresponding to the value for which half the sediment is finer is the median grain size, D_{50} . In the above example, $D_{50} = 60$ mm. Additional sizes referred to elsewhere in the manual include D_{65} , D_{84} , and D_{90} .

Other parameters are calculated from the full grain size distribution of the sample using individual values for each size class. Let $D_1, D_2, ..., D_{N+1}$ be the grain sizes associated with each of the N size classes, and let $f_1, f_2, ..., f_{N+1}$ be



Figure 3. Listing of values obtained from point-count sample of the surface layer of a gravel-bed river, and the grain size distribution curve corresponding to this sample.

the fraction of the sampled mass (or the sampled number of grains) represented in each size class. The mean values of D_i , Ψ_i , and f_i for each class are calculated as follows:

$$\overline{D}_i = \sqrt{D_i D_{i+1}}, \quad \overline{\Psi}_i = \frac{\Psi_i + \Psi_{i+1}}{2}, \quad \overline{f_i} = f_{i+1} - f_i$$
 (2a,b,c)

where the subscripts i and i + 1 refer to adjacent size classes. The values obtained from (2) can be used to estimate additional parameters:

$$\overline{\Psi} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{\Psi}_{i} \,\overline{f}_{i} \,, \qquad D_{g} = 2^{\overline{\Psi}}$$
(3a,b)

and

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\Psi_i - \overline{\Psi}^2 f_i \right)}, \qquad \sigma_g = 2^{\sigma} \qquad (3c,d)$$

where $\overline{\Psi}$ is the arithmetic mean (in Ψ units); D_g is the geometric mean grain size (in mm); σ is the arithmetic standard deviation (in $\overline{\Psi}$ units); and σ_g is the geometric standard deviation (in mm). In the preceding example, $\overline{\Psi} = 5.94$, $D_g = 60$ mm, $\sigma = 0.90$, and $\sigma_g = 1.9$ mm. The values of D_{50} and D_g are very nearly identical in this example; however, in general, D_g will be smaller than D_{50} .

Channel cross section

The software calculates relevant flow properties, such as the mean flow velocity and hydraulic radius, from a measured cross section. Depending on the application and site characteristics, you may want to include overbank areas (floodplains) in the calculations. The software will prompt you accordingly, and you will be asked to specify the left and right boundaries of the floodplain, as shown in figure 4. The hydrodynamic component of the model accounts for changes in the geometry and velocity of the flow as it spreads out across the



Figure 4. Sketch of a channel cross section. Water is assumed to flow through the main channel and the floodplains if inundated. Bed load is assumed to occur only in the main channel.

floodplain. However, the sediment transport component of the model restricts bed load calculations to the main channel under the assumption that the water-surface elevation is constant across the channel and the floodplain.

Flow resistance and shear stress

<u>Flow resistance</u>: The software estimates flow resistance in the channel separately from flow resistance over the floodplain. In the main channel, it is assumed that flow resistance is dominated by the stationary grains on the bed. Given the geometry of the channel and the grain size distribution of the bed surface, the software calculates flow properties using the Keulegan resistance relation:

$$\frac{U}{u_*} = 2.5 \ln\left(11\frac{R_c}{k_s}\right) \tag{4}$$

where $u_* = (g R_c S_f)^{1/2}$ is the shear velocity; g is the gravitational acceleration; R_c is the hydraulic radius of the main channel, equal to the cross-sectional area, A_c , divided by the wetted perimeter, P_c ; S_f is the friction slope; and k_s is the equivalent roughness. The convention followed here is to assume that k_s scales with a coarser-than-average grain size since larger grains contribute more to the total flow resistance than smaller grains. The criteria for choosing one value of k_s over another $(3D_{84}, 2D_{90}, \text{ and so forth})$ is based largely on empirical relations and individual preference. To be consistent with the original references, three slightly different values of k_s are used: Parker's surface-based equation assumes $k_s = 2D_{90}$; Parker's substrate-based equations assume $k_s = 10.7D_{50_{sub}}$, where the subscript *sub* refers to the substrate; and Wilcock's equations assume $k_s = 2D_{65}$.

Shear stress: The total shear stress acting on the bed and banks is calculated from the depth-slope product, $\tau_o = \rho g R S_f$, where ρ is the density of water (see Wilcock and others 2009, Chapter 2—Non-uniform and unsteady flow, for a more complete discussion of the components of shear stress). The proportion of the total shear stress available for transporting bed load—termed the "grain stress"—is estimated using a drag-partitioning algorithm that couples the Keulegan relation for velocity (4) with the Manning-Strickler relation for grain roughness (see Wilcock and others 2009, Chapter 2—The drag partition).

<u>Overbank flows</u>: Flow over the floodplain is characterized using a combined form of the continuity equation and the Manning equation:

$$Q_1 = \frac{1}{n_l} A_l R_l^{2/3} S_f^{1/2} , \qquad Q_r = \frac{1}{n_r} A_r R_r^{2/3} S_f^{1/2}$$
(5)

where Q is the discharge over the floodplain; n is a user-defined roughness coefficient; A is the cross-sectional area of the flow over the floodplain; R is the hydraulic radius; and the subscripts l and r refer to left and right portions of the floodplain, respectively. For overbank flows, the value of S_f is assumed to be the same across the channel and the floodplain. Ideally, estimates of S_f should be made with a one-dimensional hydraulic model, such as HEC-RAS or WS-PRO; however, if this information is not available, reach-average estimates of the water surface slope or the bed slope are used as approximations for S_f . Guidelines and techniques for estimating floodplain roughness are discussed in several publications, including Barnes (1967), Arcement and Schneider (1989), and Hicks and Mason (1998). Several web sites provide descriptions of techniques for estimating flow resistance in simple and compound channels and up-to-date references for published studies:

http://wwwrcamnl.wr.usgs.gov/sws/fieldmethods/Indirects/nvalues/

http://manningsn.sdsu.edu

http://www.rivers.gov.au/Tools_and_Techniques/Stream_Roughness_Coefficients_Tool/

Bed Load Transport Equations

This section provides a detailed discussion of the individual transport relations used in the BAGS model. We have tried to simplify the notation and terminology as much as possible while retaining key elements of each equation, as given in the original references.

The bed load transport relations used in the BAGS model are conceptually similar in that they all model transport rates as a function of the **transport stage**, which is simply a ratio of the available shear stress to the threshold shear stress:

$$\phi = \frac{\tau}{\tau_r} \tag{6}$$

where τ is defined as before and τ_r is the reference shear stress that produces a very small but measurable transport rate (Parker 1990; Parker and others 1982). This term is analogous to the critical shear stress, τ_c , which is used in a number of other bed load transport equations, including Meyer-Peter and Muller (1948) and Fernandez-Luque and van Beek (1976). The reference shear stress is used in place of the critical shear stress to avoid ambiguities in defining the transport threshold; bed load begins moving over a range of flows, and there is always some chance, even at low flows (ϕ <1.0), that a small number of grains might be moving (more on this later). It is also important to note that, as the ratio of τ to τ_r grows, there is a nonlinear response in transport, thus any errors associated with estimates of τ or τ_r are quickly amplified, leading to potentially large uncertainty in calculated transport rates.

Bed load transport rates are expressed in terms of a dimensionless parameter:

$$W^* = \frac{(s-1)gq_b}{\rho_s(\tau/\rho)^{1.5}} = \frac{(s-1)gq_b}{\rho_s u_*^3}$$
(7)

where *s* is the specific gravity of sediment; *g* is the gravitational acceleration; ρ_s is the density of sediment (2650 kg/m³ or 2.65 g/cm³ for quartz-density sediment); ρ is the density of water; u_* is the shear velocity; and q_b is the mass transport rate per unit width. The transport parameter W^* is likewise a ratio, in this case representing the power required to transport bed load scaled by the power available (Parker and others 1982). Values of W^* could thus be similar for a few large grains moving at high shear stress or many small grains moving at low shear stress. The primary reason for formulating the transport equations in terms of dimensionless parameters is to maintain generality so that the equations and results are transferable across a range of scales.

The other dimensionless parameter that appears frequently in the bed load transport equations is the **Shields stress**:

$$\tau^* = \frac{\tau}{\left(\rho_s - \rho\right)gD} = \frac{u_*^2}{\left(s - 1\right)gD} = \frac{RS_f}{\left(s - 1\right)D}$$
(8)

Eq. 8 is derived by balancing the drag force acting over the area of the grain against its weight. This equation, therefore, represents a ratio of the force available to move a given grain size versus the resistance provided by the weight and contact forces. Using this relation, Eq. 6 can be rewritten as:

$$\phi = \frac{\tau^*}{\tau_r^*} \tag{9}$$

where τ_r^* is termed the reference Shields stress.

For some applications, it may be necessary to compute transport rates for individual grain sizes, D_i , where the subscript *i* refers to the *i*-th size fraction of the grain size distribution. In this case, the parameters listed above are denoted ϕ_i , W_i^* , and $\tau_{r_i}^*$, and the equation will generally include additional terms representing the proportion of sediment in the *i*-th size fraction. The symbols, p_i , f_i , and F_i , are used to denote, respectively, the proportion of sizes in one of three potential populations of sediment: the bed load, substrate, and surface layer. Calculations of fractional transport rates also involve what is known as a "hiding function," a function that accounts for size-dependent differences in the mobility of small and large grains (Andrews 1994; Parker and others 1982; Wilcock and Crowe 2003). In gravel channels, small lightweight grains tend to get lodged in the interstices between large grains, hence they are hidden from the flow and less mobile than they might be otherwise. Large grains protrude into the flow and are exposed to higher velocities, hence they are more mobile than they might be

otherwise. The offsetting effects of hiding and exposure are reflected in the hiding function by an inverse relation between the reference Shields stress for an individual grain size, $\tau_{r_i}^*$, and the ratio of the individual grain size to the median grain size, D_i/D_{50} .

Finally, several of transport relations used in the BAGS model consist of more than one function, with each function covering a different range in transport stage, ϕ (see the first set of equations below). There are two principal reasons for developing multi-part functions: (1) Bed load data often exhibit a slight but distinct curvature when transport rates are plotted against τ^* or ϕ on log-paper, thus a single power law equation may not fit the data particularly well across the entire range of values and (2) It has been shown that the transport rate, W^* , should approach a constant at large values of ϕ (Parker and Klingeman 1982; Yalin 1972), thus it is desirable to have one component of the transport function satisfying this condition.

Surface-Based Bed Load Equation of Parker (1990)

The surface-based bed load equation of Parker (1990a) consists of three matching functions representing different levels of transport intensity:

$$W_{i}^{*} = \begin{cases} 11.9 \left(1 - \frac{0.853}{\phi}\right)^{4.5} & \phi_{50} > 1.59 \\ 0.00218 \exp\left[14.2(\phi - 1) - 9.28(\phi - 1)^{2}\right] & 1.0 \le \phi_{50} \le 1.59 \\ 0.00218 \phi^{14.2} & \phi_{50} < 1.0 \end{cases}$$
(10)

where:

$$W_i^* = \frac{(s=1)gq_{b_i}}{u_*^3 F_i}$$
(11)

and F_i is the fraction of the bed surface sediment, calculated from a sample of the surface layer with sand and finer sizes (D < 2 mm) excluded. Transport rates are calculated only for the gravel fraction of the surface layer; hence the subscripts *s* and *g* are used throughout the following explanation.

The parameter ϕ is formulated from a nested set of equations. The first of these is a hiding function:

$$\phi = \omega \phi_{sg} \left(\frac{D_i}{D_{sg}} \right)^{-0.0951} \tag{12}$$

The second equation is a function that accounts for changes in the mean grain size and sorting of the bed surface as the shear stress and transport rate increase. Parker (1990a) termed this a straining function:

$$\omega = 1 + \frac{\sigma_{\phi}}{\sigma_{\phi 0}} (\omega_0 - 1) \tag{13}$$

where σ_0 and ω_0 are functions of ϕ_{sg} given in figure 5. For typical values of sediment sorting and bed shear stresses not far above the threshold for bed load transport (say, $1.0 < \phi_{sg} < 1.5$), the function ω takes on values between 1.0 and about 0.8.

The third function is the relation for transport stage, expressed in terms of the Shields stress:

$$\phi_{sg} = \frac{\tau_{sg}^*}{\tau_{r_{sg}}^*} \tag{14}$$

where $\tau_{r_{sg}}^*$ is the reference Shields stress, assumed to be 0.0386 (Parker 1990a). The surface-based Shield stress τ_{sg}^* is defined as:

$$\tau_{sg}^{*} = \frac{u_{*}^{2}}{(s-1)gD_{sg}}$$
(15)

where u_* is calculated with the resistance relation presented earlier, Eq. 4, assuming $k_s = 2D_{90}$. Bed-load transport calculations are restricted to the main channel. For each flow of interest, the model calculates values of W^* for each size fraction and weights those values by the proportion of that size fraction on the bed surface, F_i . The instantaneous width-integrated bed load transport rate for each size fraction is then:

$$Q_{b_i} = \frac{W_i^* F_i B \, u_*^3 \rho_s}{(s-1)g} \tag{16}$$

where *B* is the channel width and u_* is calculated with respect to the main channel only. The predicted values of Q_{b_i} are summed over all size fractions to get the total bed load, Q_b .



Figure 5. Parameters σ_0 and ω_o as functions of ϕ_{sg} in Parker's surface-based equation.

The Parker-Klingeman-McLean equation (Parker and others 1982) computes transport rates on the basis of a single grain size—the median grain size of the substrate, $D_{50_{sub}}$. This equation likewise has three components:

$$W^{*} = \begin{cases} 11.2 \left(1 - \frac{0.822}{\phi_{50}}\right)^{4.5} & \phi_{50} > 1.65 \\ 0.0025 \exp\left[14.2 \left(\phi_{50} - 1\right) - 9.28 \left(\phi_{50} - 1\right)^{2}\right] & 0.95 \le \phi_{50} \le 1.65 \\ 0.0025 \phi_{50}^{14.2} & \phi_{50} < 0.95 \end{cases}$$
(17)

where ϕ_{50} is the normalized Shields stress, formulated using the D_{50} of the substrate:

$$\phi_{50} = \frac{\tau_{50}^*}{\tau_{r_{50}}^*}, \qquad \tau_{50}^* = \frac{u_*^2}{(s-1)gD_{50_{sub}}}$$
 (18a,b)

and $\tau_{r_{50}}^{*}$ is a reference Shields stress with a value of 0.0876.

Here, the function W^* is modified slightly for $\phi_{50} < 0.95$ according to the surface-based equation of Parker (1990). The original equation sets $W^* = 0$ for $\phi_{50} < 0.95$. The modification in (17) does not change the equation substantially but it has the advantage of giving positive bed load transport rates for all flow conditions.

Parker and others (1982) did not specify an appropriate flow resistance relation for use with this equation. However, the equation is substrate based, thus k_s should be calculated with respect to the substrate. Based on limited data in Parker and others (1982), the ratio of surface D_{90} to substrate D_{50} ranges between 4.3 and 5.1 with an average value of ~5.35. Using this result and the previous assumption that the roughness height is twice of the surface D_{90} , we assumed:

$$k_s = 10.7 D_{50_{sub}} \tag{19}$$

As with the previous equation, transport calculations are restricted to the main channel. Values of W^* are computed with Eq. 17 and the instantaneous transport rates are averaged over the width of the channel to get the total bed load:

$$Q_b = \frac{W^* B \, u_*^3 \rho_s}{(s-1)g} \tag{20}$$

Substrate-Based Equation of Parker-Klingeman (Parker and Klingeman 1982)

The substrate-based bed load transport equation of Parker and Klingeman (1982) can be written as follows:

$$\frac{P_i(s-1)gQ_b}{f_i Bu_*^3} = 11.2 \left[1 - 0.853 \frac{\tau_{r_{50}}^*}{\tau_{50}^*} \left(\frac{D_i}{D_{50}}\right)^\beta \right]^{4.5}$$
(21)

where p_i is the proportion of the bed load in the *i*-th size class; f_i is the fraction of the substrate in the *i*-th size class; τ_{50}^* is the Shields stress, formulated in terms of the median grain size of the substrate, $D_{50_{sub}}$; $\tau_{r_{50}}^*$ is the reference Shields stress, also formulated in terms of $D_{50_{sub}}$; D_i is the mean grain size of the *i*-th size class; and β is a hiding coefficient. The hiding coefficient, β , and reference Shields stress, stress, $\tau_{r_{50}}^*$, are given by Parker and Klingeman as:

$$\beta = 0.018$$
, $\tau_{r_{50}}^* = 0.0876$ (22a,b)

The same approach is used in calculating flow resistance as in the previous equation, with the assumption $k_s = 10.7 D_{50_{sub}}$. Instantaneous transport rates are computed for each size fraction with (21) and averaged over the channel width:

$$Q_{b_i} = \frac{W_i^* f_i B \, u_*^3 \rho_s}{p_i (s-1)g}$$
(23)

The calculated values of Q_{b_i} are then summed over all size fractions to get the total bed load, Q_b .

Surface-Based Two-Fraction Equation of Wilcock (2001)

The surface-based two-fraction equation of Wilcock (2001) is a calibrated procedure that separates the bed load into two fractions—sand and gravel—and determines the reference shear stress for each fraction on the basis of bed load measurements. In theory, any suitable bed load transport equation can be calibrated using this approach. Wilcock (2001) recommended the following equations for estimating gravel and sand transport rates separately:

$$W_{g}^{*} = \begin{cases} 11.2 \left(1 - 0.846 \frac{\tau_{r_{g}}}{\tau}\right)^{4.5}, & \tau > \tau_{r_{g}} \\ 0.0025 \left(\frac{\tau}{\tau_{r_{g}}}\right)^{14.2}, & \tau \le \tau_{r_{g}} \end{cases}$$
(24a)

and

$$W_s^* = 11.2 \left(1 - 0.846 \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{r_s}}{\tau}} \right)^{4.5}$$
 (24b)

In these equations, the subscripts g and s refer to the gravel and sand fractions, respectively; τ_{r_g} is the reference shear stress for gravel; and τ_{r_s} is the reference shear stress for sand. Values for τ_{r_g} and τ_{r_s} are obtained from least squares regression based on bed load measurements. The separate values of W^* are then weighted by the respective fractions of gravel and sand on the bed, f_g , and $f_s = 1 - f_g$. Values of f_g and f_s are determined from a representative sample of the bed surface. The relation used to estimate flow resistance is similar to the one used in the previous equations, with a slight difference in the assumed roughness, $k_s = 2D_{65}$. Instantaneous transport rates for the sand and gravel fractions are calculated separately:

$$Q_{b_g} = \frac{W_g^* f_g \rho_s B u_*^3}{(s-1)g} , \qquad Q_{b_s} = \frac{W_s^* f_s \rho_s B u_*^3}{(s-1)g}$$
(25a,b)

and then summed to give the total load,

$$Q_b = Q_{bg} + Q_{bs} \tag{26}$$

Surface-Based Relation of Wilcock and Crowe (2003)

Wilcock and Crowe (2003) developed a transport relation based on the full grain size distribution of the bed surface, including the sand. This relation includes an additional function that accounts for the nonlinear effect of sand content on gravel transport rates. The basic form of the equation is as follows:

$$W_i^* = \begin{cases} 0.002\phi^{7.5} & \phi < 1.35\\ 14\left(1 - \frac{0.894}{\phi^{0.5}}\right)^{4.5} & \phi \ge 1.35 \end{cases}$$
(27)

where

$$\phi = \frac{\tau}{\tau_{r_i}}, \qquad \tau_{r_i} = \tau_{r_{50}} \left(\frac{D_i}{D_{50}}\right)^b$$
 (28a,b)

The exponent in the hiding function *b* is calculated from:

$$b = \frac{0.67}{1 + \exp\left(1.5 - \frac{D_i}{D_m}\right)}$$
(29)

where D_m is the mean grain size of the bed surface. The reference shear stress for D_m is found using the Shields stress relation:

$$\tau_{r_m}^* = \frac{\tau_{r_m}}{\left(s-1\right)gD_m} \tag{30}$$

and an empirical function that accounts for the variation in τ_r^* with changes in sand content:

$$\tau_{r_m}^* = 0.021 + 0.015 \exp\left(-20F_s\right) \tag{31}$$

where F_s is the percent of sand on the bed surface.

Values of W^* are calculated for each size fraction then weighted by the proportion of that size fraction on the bed surface, F_i . Those values are summed over all sizes to get the instantaneous width-integrated bed load transport rate:

$$Q_{b_i} = \frac{W_i^* F_i B \, u_*^3 \rho_s}{(s-1)g} \tag{32}$$

The procedure of Bakke and others (1999) uses site-specific measurements of bed load and bed material to calibrate two parameters in the equation of Parker and Klingeman (1982). The calibration procedure requires at least one, and preferably five to 10 bed load samples, plus samples of the bed material (surface or substrate). The procedure computes the hiding function exponent, β , and reference Shields stress for D_{50} ($\tau_{r_{50}}^*$), using a least squares fit to the calibration data. The procedure seeks to minimize the sum of squared differences between computed and measured transport rates based on different values of β and $\tau_{r_{50}}^*$. Transport rates are computed for each size fraction (surface or the substrate, depending on available data) and then summed to get the total bed load.

Data Input Requirements

Table 1 provides a list of the information and input variables needed to run the individual transport models. The first three rows list information common to all the models and include measurements of the reference-reach cross section, reach-average slope, and water discharge. Subsequent rows list particular sediment parameters derived from representative samples of the bed surface sediment, substrate, and/or bed load. The rationale for using surface versus substrate as input to a bed load transport model is discussed in Wilcock and others (2009). The models developed by Parker (1990a) and Wilcock and Crowe (2003) require data obtained from surface samples, otherwise known as pebble counts (table 1). The models developed by Parker and others (1982) and Parker and Klingeman (1982) require information obtained from bulk samples of the substrate (table 1). The approaches described by Wilcock (2001) and Bakke and others (1999) require actual bed load measurements, which serve as the basis for model calibration.

	Parker	PKM	РК	w	wc	В
Channel cross section	х	х	Х	Х	х	х
Reach-average water surface slope	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Discharge	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Bed surface grain size distribution	Х				Х	Х
• f_{α}, f_{α}				Х		
Substrate grain size distribution			Х			Х
• D _{E0}		Х				
Bed load sample data				Х		Х

Table 1. Summary of input variables and information needed to run individual transport models.

Software Operation

Model calculations and decisions are carried out in Visual Basic, a programming application that is included with recent versions of Microsoft Excel. This structure allows for straightforward cut-and-paste transfer of input and output data from one spreadsheet to another or any other program that accepts data in tabular format. <u>Data must be entered in metric units</u>. The program is designed to operate on WINDOWS-based PCs using Microsoft Excel, vers. 2000 and higher. The program does not run on Macintosh- or Unix-based platforms. Users should have a basic familiarity with the Microsoft Windows operating system and Microsoft Excel.

If you don't have the program for calculating bed load transport rates (BAGS), you may download a copy from the STREAM team website:

http://www.stream.fs.fed.us/publications/software.html.

We recommend that you create a folder specific to your particular project and place the application program in this folder. Ancillary files or spreadsheets containing pertinent field data, including cross sections, water-surface profiles, discharge values, and/or sediment size distributions, should also be placed in the project folder. The steps involved in operating the software are listed below. In some cases, we have added sidebars that provide a comment or an explanation of the rationale behind an individual step or model calculation.

- Before starting the program you should check the macro security level for your version of MS-Excel. It should be set at "Low" to run the BAGS program. To check the macro security level, start MS-Excel. Use the "Tools" menu and select "Options." Select the "Security" tab and click "Macro Security." Under the "Security Level" tab, enable "Low" and select "OK."
- 2. Start the program by clicking the BAGS icon. You will see a dialog box indicating that the program contains "macros." Select "Enable Macros."



3. The BAGS background page will appear. Click the link to <u>apply bed load</u> <u>transport equations</u>. A users agreement will appear. Please read the conditions specified in the users agreement. If you agree with the terms, select "I Agree."



Bedload Transport I quations	- 1163 2007	
1 -4 -2 - 10 100%	on Date Barges Date	Tipe a question for help 🔹 🖉
A1 • 5		
User Agreement		
This software is in the pu	blic domain, and the recipient may not assert	t any
proprietary rights thereto Government-produced pr	nor represent it to anyone as other than a ogram. BAGS is provided "as-is" without wa	arranty of
any kind, including, but no	t limited to, the implied warranties of mercha	antability
and fitness for a particula accuracy and suitability of	r purpose. The user assumes all responsibili this program for a specific application. In no	ity for the
the USDA Forest Service.	Johns Hopkins University, the University of	Colorado-
Boulder, or Stillwater Sci-	ences be liable for any damages, including lo	st profits,
of or the inability to use th	is program.	
LAgran	LDisagree	

4. A box listing the equations will appear. If you are uncertain about which equation to use, select "HELP." If you would like additional information on an equation, including the original journal reference and a list of data input requirements, select the small box on the far left adjacent to the open box next to the equation. When you are ready to proceed, check the open box next to the equation and select "ACCEPT."

Choose equations for bedload calculation	×
Please select one or more equations for bedload transport calculation. You will be asked to provide the necessary input data for the calculation upon clicking "Accept". Click "Help if you are unsure as what equation you may use with your available data. You can also click on the small button in front of a equation to learn the original reference and the inpudata requirement for using that equation. Image: Parker (surface-based, 1990) Image: Parker (surface-based, 1990) Image: Parker (surface-based, 1990) Image: Parker (surface-based, 1990) Image: Parker and Klingeman and McLean (substrate D50-based, 1982) Image: Parker and Klingeman (substrate based, 1982) Image: Parker and Crowe (surface-based, 2003) Image: Parker and Crowe (surface-based, 2003)	l,"
GS 🔀	
Parker, G. (1990) Surface-based bedload transport relation for gravel rivers, Journal of Hydraulic Research, 28(4), 417-430.	
nput data requirement: water discharge (or flow duration curve), typical cross section (or bankfull width), reach average water surface slope at a relatively high discharge (or bed slope as an approximation), surface grain size distribution.	
ок	
What do you have for input?	
Please check the available field data and click "OK" for	advice.
Channel cross section	
If not available 🖵 Bankfull width	
Flow duration curve	
□ Reach average water surface slope	
If not available J Reach average channel bed	l slope
Surrace grain size distribution If not available Fractions of gravel and ea	nd on eurface
In not available of principal and sa	nu on sunace
□ Subsurface grain size distribution	
If not available 🗖 Subsurface median grain	size (D50)
☐ Bedload sampling results (need at least a few s	amples)
If available 🛛 🗂 Grain size distribution of the s	amples
If anot vailable 🔲 Gravel/sand fractions in	n the samples
<u>D</u> K <u>Cancel</u>	

5. You will now see a dialog box asking if you would like to apply a roughness correction. If you have a field-based estimate of Manning's *n*, select "YES" and enter that value when the next dialog box appears. If you don't have an estimate of Manning's *n* but would like to apply a roughness correction anyway, we suggest you consult the references listed earlier in the section on flow resistance.

Roughne	ess Correction	
?	You have chosen one o and Klingeman 1982, V	or more uncalibrated equations (i.e., Parker 1990, Parker, Klingeman and McLean 1982, Parker /ilcock and Crowe 2003).
	If you have a good est to the above equations	imate of Manning's n value in the main channel, you can elect to correct the default roughness s by using your estimated main channel Manning's n value.
	Apply roughness corre	ction?
		Yes No
		Manning's n
		Enter your estimate of Manning's n value in the main channel:
		0.032

6. A dialog box will appear indicating two choices for channel geometry:

Channel Geome	try		
Will you use width to repr	a typical cross sec esent the channel	tion or reach average bank geometry?	full
 A typ 	ical cross section		
🔍 Reac	h average bankful	ll width	
	<u>A</u> ccept	<u>C</u> ancel	
-			

Ideally, you should have cross section data available to enter at the next step; however, the software can approximate flow conditions for a known width and discharge by assuming a rectangular cross section.

7. The next box allows you to enter data for the reference reach cross section. Select "CLEAR FORM" and enter values of distance and elevation for the cross section.

	Bedload Transp	ort Equations - B	AGS 20	007							
	<u>Eile E</u> dit <u>V</u> ie	w Insert Format	Tools	Data	Window H	elp			Type a que	stion for help	8 ×
En		N 100%									
	A28	£	7								
-	A 1	B	C	D	F	F	G	н	1	1	K
		0		0			- · · ·		1	0	I N
1	Distance (m)	Elevation (m)		nstructio	n:	Accept	Cancel	Clear For	m		
2	0.0	99.80									
3	1.0	99.80		Enter	cross sect	tion data in i	columns A	and B, with	n column A	A being latera	al distance
4	2.0	99.66		and c	olumn B be	eing elevatio	n. The ele	vation can b	oe relative	to an arbitra	ry datum.
5	2.7	99.31									
6	3.7	99.10		Note	that you ca	an copy data	directly to	the cells fr	rom anoth	er workbook.	
7	4.2	99.06									
8	4.6	98.66									
9	5.0	98.59									
10	6.0	98.55									
11	7.0	98.48									
12	8.0	98.42									
13	9.0	98.42			_				_		
14	10.0	98.41			pas	te valu	es of a	listanc	P		
15	11.0	98.37	-		- Pus	ic vala		ano curre	.~		
16	12.0	98.38			(x) a	and ele	vatior	n (y) he	ere		
17	13.0	98.37									
18	14.0	98.36									
19	15.0	98.32									
20	15.5	98.33									
21	16.2	98.66									
22	16.7	99.15									
23	17.0	99.27									
24	18.0	99.75									
25	18.9	99.95	2								
Sele	ct destination and p	press ENTER or choose	Paste							NUM	

8. A new page will appear with a plot of the reference reach cross section. If you want to include the floodplain in the hydraulic calculations, you must assign values of Manning's *n* to the left- and right-portions of the floodplain.



9. A new page will appear, asking for input on the grain size distribution. Any specific intervals for the grain size, *D*, may be used, however, the sizes must be listed from lowest to highest, for example: 1, 2, ..., 128 mm. Select "CLEAR FORM" and enter the percent finer for each size class in the appropriate columns.

8	<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit ⊻ie	ew <u>I</u> nsert F <u>o</u> rmat	Iools Data <u>W</u> indow Help
D	a 🖻 🛍 🗄	2 100% 🔹	
	B17 🔹	fx	
	A	В	CDEFG <u>H</u> IJK
1	Size (mm)	% Finer	Instruction: Cancel Clear Form
2	1	0	
3	2	3	Surface Grain Size Distribution
4	4	20.7	
5	5.6	25	Based on the equation(s) you selected, you need to provide surface layer grain size
ь 7	8	26.4	distribution in order to carry on the calculation.
8	11.2	29.3	It is suggested that grain sizes he provided in a half phi interval to a one phi interval
q	22	38.5	Grain sizes in a half nhi interval for example would be 2.2.8.4.5.6.8.11.16
10	32	45.7	mm and grain size in a one-phi interval would be 2, 4, 8, 6, 6, 7, 10
11	45	60.6	
12	64	75	The percent finers associated to the finest and coarsest grain sizes must be 0 and
13	90	88.5	100, respectively.
14	128	96.8	
15	180	100	Click "Accept" to continue upon finishing the input, or click "Cancel" to quit the
16	256	100	calculation.
17			
18		-	
19			paste data from size
20			magguramanta hara
22			measurements here
23			
24			
25			

Note: Depending on the bed load equation you have selected, you may then see another dialog box asking if you would like to include grain sizes less than 2 mm in the calculation.



Sidebar 1

Comment: Parker (1990a) formulated his surface-based relation by excluding sand from the analysis and computation. Subsequently, Wilcock and Crowe (2003) showed that sand has a strong influence on transport thresholds and transport rates. Other work indicates that, in many rivers, the bed load is predominantly sand (Hassan and Church 2001; Lisle 1995; Mueller and others 2005), consistent with field data showing that the substrate is 20 to 30 percent sand (Pitlick and others 2008). Given this information, we don't see a clear reason for excluding sand from the calculation unless it can be determined that these sizes will move in suspension. 10. The next dialog box will ask you to select one of potentially three values for slope.

Slope
Bedload calculation requires friction slope as an input parameter. In practice, friction slope is often approximated with reach average water surface slope at a relatively high flow event. If water surface slope is not available, friction slope can also be approximated by reach average channel bed slope, provided that the reach used to calculate the slope is sufficiently long. Friction or energy slope from a computer model (e.g., HEC-RAS) is also acceptable as input. Enter the slope below, and if available, indicate the source of the slope. Click
"Accept" to continue upon finishing.
🕤 reach average water surface slope
reach average channel bed slope
friction or energy slope from a computer model
Enter slope: 0.2

Sidebar 2

Note: If you select option (b), you will need to supply estimates of minimum and maximum discharges, otherwise the program may stall or give unreasonable results. If you are not sure what to enter for minimum and maximum values, we can offer several suggestions:

- If the site is gaged and the gage record includes at least
 years of peak-flow values, you could use the lowest and highest values to define a reasonable range of discharges or
- 2. If the site is not gaged, but you have a rough idea of the bankfull discharge (or perhaps an estimate of an average-size flood, such as the 2-year flood), we suggest setting the minimum discharge to approximately half this value and setting the maximum discharge to 2 (or maybe 4) times this value.

These limits are somewhat arbitrary, but likely to encompass most of the range over which bed load transport occurs (this point is discussed in more detail in the Assessing Model Output section). 11. The next dialog box asks for information on discharge.

Discharge	
The calculation c	an be carried out for
 (a). bedload (b). bedload and a m (c). average and bed 	transport rate for a single discharge; transport rate rating curve between a minimum aximum discharge; bedload transport rate during a period of time load transport rate rating curve.
You will need a s maximum discha (c). You can also in place of flow c	ingle discharge for case (a), a minimum and a rge for case (b), and a flow duration curve for case o use daily discharge record for the specified period duration curve for case (c).
Please select you	ur option and click "Accept" to continue.
	Accept <u>C</u> ancel

Discharge 🛛 🔀									
Metric system has been used for calculation and presentation throughout the software. Due to the fact that all the discharge records in the U.S. are still in cubic feet per second (cfs), however, both metric and imperial units are allowed during the input process. You must select a unit BEFORE entering the discharge data. Click "Accept" to continue upon finishing.									
• in cubic meters per second (cms)									
Min. Discharge 1 cms									
Max. Discharge	20	cms	<u>A</u> ccept	Cancel					

12. At this point, the steps for entering data are complete. The next dialog box will ask if you would like to create a file to save the input data.

Save project 🛛 🔀
Input data are complete! You can save the input data into a project file by clicking "File - Save BAGS project" on the menu bar. Saving the project will allow you to reload the data at a later date (by clicking "File - Open BAGS project" on the menu). We strongly suggest that you save the project before proceeding to the next task.
Save project now?
Yes No Cancel

13. The program performs a series of calculations and stores the results in a new workbook. When the calculations are complete the following box will appear.



14. The new workbook contains eight separate tabs. The first tab lists the equation(s) used, locations of the input/output data, and user and date. Other tabs list input/output values or show plots generated for the particular model run. You should check the Input tab to ensure that the parameter values and data were entered correctly. The Output tab lists values of discharge (m³/s), bed load transport rate (kg/min), transport stage, τ / τ_r (dimensionless), maximum water depth, hydraulic radius, and, depending on the equation specified, bed load transport rates of individual size fractions.



A Wa Min Maa Laft fi Left fo CF	C (L 2) L 2) Wholow B B autor sufface slope Bankfull width water discharge water discharge oodplain boundary oodplain boundary oodplain boundary oodplain boundary oodplain boundary	C 0.0025 N/A 1. cms 20. cms 0.07 21.4 m 0.07		E	i ji čeni	15 1	G H SURFA(Size () 257 184 125 90 64 53 232	E GRA	I IN SIZE DI % Finer 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67	STRIB	J	ĸ	
Sheatt tr T54 A Wa Min Mas Left fo Right 6 CF Lat	Window B B Bar surface stope Sankfull width water discharge water discharge sodplain boundary odplain Manning's n OOSS SECTION	C 0.0025 N/A 1. cms 20. cms 0.m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07	0	ε	<u> </u>		G H SURFA(Size () 258 180 123 90 64 45 32	CE GRA mm) 5 3	I 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	STRIB	J UTION	к	
T54 Wa Min Max Luft fi Right 6 CF Lat	B B Bankfull width water discharge water discharge water discharge sodplain boundary odplain Manning's n loodplain Marning's n OSS SECTION	C 0.0025 N/A 1. cms 20. cms 0.m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07	0	E			G H SURFA(Size () 259 180 125 90 64 45 32	CE GRA	1 100 100 100 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67	STRIB	J UTION	к	
A Wa Min Max Left fo Right fo Right fo Left CF Left	B arktuli width Sanktuli width water discharge water discharge sodplain boundary odplain Manning's n loodplain boundary odplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	C 0.0025 N/A 1. cms 20. cms 0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07	D	E			G H SURFA(Size () 258 180 125 90 64 45 32	E GRA	I IN SIZE DI 16 Finer 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.59 45.67	STRIB	UTION	к	
Wa Min Let fo Right 6 CF Lat	er suflace slope Bankfull width water discharge water discharge odplain boundary odplain Manning's n loodplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	0.0005 N/A 1. ems 20. ems 0.m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					SURFAC Size () 256 186 126 90 64 45 32	CE GRA mm) 5 3	N SIZE DI % Finer 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.59 45.67	STRIB	UTION		
Min Max Left fo Right Right fi CF Lat	Bankfull width water discharpe water discharpe soodplain boundary opplain Maring's n loodplain Maring's n OQSS SECTION	N/A 1. cms 20. cms 0.m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					Size () 25k 18k 12k 90 64 45 32	mm) 5 3	100 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67				
Min Max Left fo Right fi Right fi CF Lat	Backfull width water discharpe water discharpe sodplain boundary odplain Manning's n loodplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	N/A 1. ems 20. cms 0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					258 180 125 90 64 45 32	3	100 100 96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67				
Min Max Left fo Right fo Right fo CF Lat	water discharge water discharge odplain boundary odplain Manning's n foodplain boundary yodplain Marning's n OSS SECTION	1. cms 20. cms 0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					18(125 90 64 45 32	3	100 96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67				
Min Left fo Right fo CF Lat	water discharge water discharge oodplain boundary odplain Manning's n loodplain boundary yodplain Marning's n OSS SECTION	1. cms 20. cms 0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					126 90 64 45 32	3	96.63 88.46 75 60.58 45.67				
Max Left fo Right fo CF Lat	water discharge oodplain boundary odplain Manning's n foodplain boundary odplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					90 64 45 32		88.46 75 60.58 45.67				
Lett fo Right fi Right fi CF Lat	oodplain boundary odplain Manning's n foodplain boundary xodplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	0. m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					64 45 32		75 60.58 45.67				
Left fo Right fi Right fi CF Lat	oodplain boundary odplain Manning's n foodplain boundary odplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	0.m 0.07 21.4 m 0.07					45		60.58 45.67				
Left flo Right Right 6 CF Lat	odplain Manning's n foodplain boundary oodplain Manning's n OSS SECTION	0.07 21.4 m 0.07					32		45.67				
Right 6 Right 6 CF Lat	foodplain boundary odplain Marning's n OSS SECTION	21.4 m 0.07											
Right 6 CF Lat	odplain Manning's n	0.07					22		38.46				
CF Lat	OSS SECTION						16		32.69				
Lat	OSS SECTION						11.3	2	29.33				
Lat	The state of the s						8		26.44				
	Mai chicance (m)	Elevation (m)					5.6	;	25				
	0	99.72					4		20.67				
	0	99.61					2		3				
1	2	99.42					1		0				
	4	98.93											
1	4.9	98.93					STATIST	ICS OF	THE ABO	WE GR	AIN SIZ	E DIST	RE
1	5.2	98.87					Geometr	ic mean	(mm)		22.13		
1	6	98.7					Geometr	ic stand	land deviati	ion	3.86		
1	7	98.42					D10 (mm	ŵ			2.63		
1	7.5	98.28					D16 (mn	ŵ.			3.33		
1	B	98.26					D25 (mm	å.			58		
1	85	98.24					D50 (mm	ň		123	35.33		
1	9	98.22					D65 (mm	á l			50.13		
	95	98.2					D75 (mn	ů.			64		
1	10	98.74					D64 (mm	ă.		- 53	80.38		
1	10.5	98.24					D90 (mm	ň.		- 19	96.17		
1	11	98.22					2.20 0111	¥					
1	11.5	98.18					Main chi	innei Mi	inning's n	1 8	0.032		

		per preest	Fignal Is	ol: Data	Window	B				74	pe a question for	hips it and
12	HALL		13 (X) (X) (I) (II) (II)	123 (23) (3	1	11 IN 1	Artal	± 10 ± 1	B Z 🖩		1 . ·· A
51	on or w	Indon										
A	61											
A	в	¢	D	E	F	0	H	1		ĸ	L	M
	water and			A								
	Haong cun	ves are prese	inted starting	COLUMN H								
	DATENO CI	IDVED										
	Discharge	diant trans	Transad	Max water	Line and	-	Sead bacan	of rate for site in	Longoin			
	(creat)	tate Goslesia	State	dapth (m)	radius (m)	19	80 - 178 mg	128-90 mm	90.64 mm	64 - 45 mm	#5. 32 mm	32. 22 mm
	4	1.0045-08	0 3000282	0.26879	0.18276	6	91366-12	3.542008-11	9 318296-11	1.5046-10	2.830618-10	2.063646-1
	1.127304/	5 244E-08	0.3209852	0.28312	0.19552	ň	2658E-11	1.030126-10	270935-10	4.635E-10	7 649535-10	5 00006E-1
	1.2708152	1.5136-07	0.3432124	0.29841	0.20905	ñ	7.6638-11	2 971636-10	7.815615-10	1.3376-09	2 2064E-09	1730966-0
	1.4325956	4 365E-07	0.3669952	0.3148	0.22355	D.	2,211E-10	8.57417E-10	2 25507E-09	3.858E-09	6.3662E-09	4.99411E-0
	1.6149713	1 2026-06	0.3924546	0.33237	0.22906	ñ	6.391E-10	2470446-09	6.51847E-09	1.115E-08	1.8402E-08	1.443506-0
	1.8205643	3.631E-06	0.4195607	0.35112	0.25557	0	1.839E-09	7.1331E-09	1.87606E-08	3.21E-08	5.29623E-08	4.15475E-0
	2.05233	1.047E-05	0.448616	0.37125	0.27327	õ	5 3068-09	2.057686-08	5.411836-08	9.2596-08	1.527796-07	1.198516-0
	2 31 36001	3.001E-05	0.4794492	0.39278	0.29205	ō	1.52E-08	5.89606E-08	1.55071E-07	2.653E-07	4.37774E-07	3.43422E-0
	2.6081322	0.565E-05	0.5122541	0.41595	0.31203	Đ.	4.3396-00	1.69252E-07	4.42516E-07	7.5716-07	1.24925E-08	9.800036-0
	2 9401589	0.0002395	0.5465216	0.44097	0.33291	8	1.213E-07	4.7058E-07	1.23788E-06	2.117E-06	3.49399E-06	2.74094E-0
	3.314454	0.0006737	0.5833125	0.46762	0.35532	Ó	3.413E-07	1.32349E-00	3.48087E-08	5.955E-00	9.02672E-00	7.708786-0
	3,7363966	0.0018971	0.6226387	0.49618	0.37927	8	9.81E-07	3726865-06	9.8019E-06	1.677E-05	2.76714E-05	2.17075E-0
	4.2120585	0.0052099	0.6634157	0.52700	0.40411	Ú.	2.6396-06	1.02347E-05	2.001796-05	4 8056-05	7.5901E-05	5.961298-0
	4,7482721	0.0144991	0.707492	0.55995	0.43098	ō.	7.34E-06	2 84634E-05	7.48609E-05	0.0001281	0.000211337	0.00016578
	5.352748	0.0393093	0.7532015	0.59525	0.4588	ō.	1.991E-05	7.722276-05	0.000203101	0.0003475	0.000573368	0.00044970
	6.0341763	0.102729	0.800604	0.63351	0.48768	ō.	5.218E-05	0.000202355	0.000532208	0.0009105	0.001502457	0.00117863
	6 8023535	0.2605399	0.0501150	0.67453	0.61784	0	0.0001342	0.000520299	0.001368424	0.0023412	0.003063147	0.00303053
	7.669323	0.6151831	0.9021946	0.71833	0.54958	D	0.0003277	0.001270799	0.003342291	0.0057183	0.009435498	0.00740189
	0.6445343	1.2556428	0.9527454	0.7668	0.58035	D	0.000703	0.002726077	0.007169777	0.0122667	0.020240733	0.01587830
	9.7450214	1,7233781	0.9719882	0.83097	0.59208	D	0.0009867	0.003826415	0.010063745	0.0172179	0.028410589	0.02228733
	10.985805	2.9378081	1.0213417	0.08448	0.62214	0	0.0017851	0.008922505	0.018206685	0.0311496	0.051398621	0.04032083
	12,384121	4.854749	1.0849037	0.93587	0.86086	Ð	0.0031754	0.012314153	0.032387105	0.0554107	0.091430842	0.07159523
	13.96067/	7.1500412	1,1497368	0.99354	0.70035	0	0.0049929	0.019362602	0.050925029	0.087127	0.143660786	0.11201212
	15.73793	9.9604578	1.2189078	1.05352	0.74248	Đ.	0.0074013	0.028702277	0.075489044	0.129147	0.212371447	0.15487375
	17,741433	13.140580	1.2915217	1.11743	0.76672	0	0.0103025	0.039953402	0.105080308	0.1796097	0.294504877	0.22776998
	20	16.689897	1.3676054	1.18559	0.83306	Ð	0.0137012	0.053133272	0.139744309	8.238477	B.390038258	0.30065967
-	-	I change I	Oles Cal De	. / hours	/ Thet Dave	in:	d / Dive The	· / Christ Country	Chatman /		Tel.	

Assessing Model Output

Given that bed load transport rates can vary by many orders of magnitude, almost any result produced by the BAGS model can be considered "reasonable." The questions are: What do we mean by reasonable? How do we distinguish between a potentially valid result and one that is implausible, and how do we assess model output if there are no data against which to compare the results? The sections below discuss possible strategies for evaluating the reasonableness of model results, starting with some comments about the data itself and potential input errors. The subsequent section goes through several examples illustrating how and why model results can differ from field measurements. The final section focuses on the common situation where no measurements of bed load transport have been made, thus there is little basis for comparison.

How Good Are the Raw Data?

Before discussing approaches for interpreting model output, it is worth reminding ourselves that a model calculation is only as good as the input data. The phrase "garbage in, garbage out" certainly applies in this case.

All bed load transport relations are sensitive to estimates of the available grain sizes and the available shear stress. Small differences in the estimation of these two values can lead to very large (orders-of-magnitude) differences in calculated transport rates. In addition to potential errors and uncertainties in the input variables, there may be conditions within a watershed that severely limit the usefulness of bed load transport calculations. The following points are important to consider:

Is the site or the watershed appropriate for this type of analysis? Bed load transport relations are formulated with two assumptions in mind: (1) the mass flux of sediment is related in a consistent way to the physical properties of the flow (force or power per unit bed area) and (2) all the grain sizes capable of being transported by a particular flow are indeed available to be transported. Bed load transport equations predict the bed load transport capacity, which Gilbert (1914, p. 35) defined as the "maximum load a river can carry," presumably for a given flow and sediment size. Generally, this definition only applies to alluvial channels where the bed and banks are made of sediment that was carried by the river itself, as opposed to some other geomorphic process (for example, mass-wasting or glacial processes). This can be a serious limitation in actively eroding bedrock channels and mountain streams where the sediment supply is driven more by the rate of weathering and/or hillslope transport than by fluvial processes. In these cases, the channel potentially transports only as much

sediment as is supplied, and the sediment flux bears only a weak relation to the flow strength. Transport under these conditions is said to be "supply limited," and there is no reason to expect that a transport relation will predict the sediment flux accurately.

Is the bed material very heterogeneous? Can you determine, at least quali-• tatively, whether the bed material samples are representative of the reach of interest? The bed sediment in gravel channels can vary significantly from place to place, thus a surface or substrate sample from only one location may not yield a grain size distribution that is representative of that setting. Figure 6 shows grain size distributions of the surface and substrate sediment sampled across a single meander bend within a 130-m reach of the Colorado River in Rocky Mountain National Park, Colorado. This is a relatively stable gravelbed river with a mildly sinuous channel pattern, yet these measurements show that there is a wide range in grain size of both the surface and the substrate. The variation in grain size is likely to be much higher in morphologically complex channels (braided or wandering rivers), thus sampling intensity should be increased to determine particle size distributions more accurately. The clearest guidance on procedures for sampling and analysis of the bed sediment in gravel channels can be found in Church and others (1987) and Bunte and Abt (2001). We cannot stress the importance of taking as much time as necessary to obtain representative samples of the bed material-it makes no sense to spend hundreds of hours taking measurements of water discharge or channel properties and then spend 1 hour sampling the bed material. The problems associated with a potentially inaccurate estimate of the grain size are illustrated later in the discussion of transport estimates for the South Fork Samon River (p. 35).



Figure 6. Grain size distributions of the bed surface and substrate of the Colorado River in Rocky Mountain National Park, CO. The samples were taken across a single meander bend, at different locations corresponding to (A) the middle portion of bend and (B) the outer portion of the bend (source: Clayton and Pitlick 2007).

• Are the estimates of boundary shear stress reasonable? The variations in shear stress within a channel reach are likely to be at least as large as the variations in grain size. The problems of estimating shear stress are particularly important in high-gradient channels (slopes greater that ~1 percent) where a significant proportion of the total shear stress acting on the streambed may be "lost" due to form drag on immobile boulders and logs (Buffington and Montgomery 1999; Mueller and others 2005; Wiberg and Smith 1990; Wilcox and Wohl 2006). The BAGS model attempts to correct for these effects, but the problem is not restricted to small, headwater streams. Natural undulations in bed topography caused by pools and riffles force changes in depth and velocity, thus altering the distribution of shear stress (Sear 1996; Whiting and Dietrich 1991). The BAGS model is not likely to yield accurate estimates of bed load transport in highly sinuous channels, braided channels, or channels with sharp changes in gradient.

Comparisons of Model Output With Bed Load Measurements

As noted in Wilcock and others (2009), a few measurements of bed load can aid significantly in assessing the uncertainty of a transport calculation. However, even in a best-case scenario, one should expect that bed load measurements taken at the same location at the same discharge will vary by at least an order of magnitude. This is especially true of samples taken at flows near the threshold for motion. The following examples illustrate the range of results one can expect in comparing output from the BAGS model with field measurements taken in different types of gravel-bed streams and rivers in the western United States. The discussion emphasizes "goodness-of-fit," not as a statistical concept, but as a means of comparing observed values with predicted values.

Visualizing Bed Load Transport as a Function of Discharge

Measurements of bed load taken in the field and laboratory indicate that transport rates increase by orders of magnitude for relatively small changes in discharge and shear stress. The nonlinearity in transport processes is reflected by the high value of the exponent in the relation between bed load and shear stress. In the equation of Wilcock and Crowe, for example, $W^* \propto \tau^{7.5}$ in the range of low-moderate shear stresses, $\tau < 1.35\tau_r$. Flows in this range typically carry a high percentage of the total annual bed load (Andrews 1994; Andrews and Nankervis 1995; Emmett and Wolman 2001; Mueller and others 2005; Torizzo and Pitlick 2004; Van Steeter and Pitlick 1998; Whiting and others 1999). For these reasons we recommend plotting the relation between flow and transport

using logarithmic scales for both axes. Otherwise, it is essentially impossible to visually assess the quality of the data, especially in the range of flows where most of the transport occurs.

Field hydrologists are accustomed to using water discharge, rather than shear stress, as the primary index of flow properties. Discharge is commonly measured in the field, and values of discharge associated with individual transport measurements are typically listed in published reports, whereas estimates of shear stress are not. Discharge thus emerges as a natural variable for associating transport rates and flow.

A statistical goodness-of-fit-test helps in judging the strength of the relation between bed load discharge, Q_b , and water discharge, Q, but it may be more instructive to ask: Do the field data follow the expected (modeled) trend? To answer this question, we suggest using a simple test focusing on the parameters of a power-law relation, $Q_b = aQ^b$, where *a* is a coefficient and *b* is the slope of the observed transport relation. If the observed exponent *b* differs greatly from the expected value, then you might want to look more carefully at the measurements. To find the expected value of *b*, we combine the continuity equation with the Manning equation and write a relation for shear stress as a function of discharge:

$$\tau = \rho g \left(\frac{Qn}{B}\right)^{0.6} S^{0.7} \tag{33}$$

where the variables as defined in the Bed Load Transport equations section. This equation indicates that for constant values of ρ , g, n, B and S, τ varies with the 0.6 power of Q (we should note, however, that in typical channels, n will decrease with Q, and B will increase, thus the exponent may be expected to be less than 0.6—this depends on the particular site characteristics). Using this result, we can recast one of the transport relations discussed earlier in terms of Q. The Wilcock and Crowe equation for low-moderate transport stages ($\tau < 1.35\tau_r$) is used as an example. This equation can be written as:

$$Q_{b} = \frac{0.002\rho_{s}}{(s-1)g} B\left(\frac{\tau}{\rho}\right)^{1.5} \left(\frac{\tau}{\tau_{r}}\right)^{7.5} = kB(\tau)^{9.0}$$
(34)

where Q_b is the total bed load (mass transport rate, integrated across the channel width, *B*) and *k* is a value incorporating the various constants, plus the value of τ_{r} . Collecting the various terms and writing the total bed load as a function of discharge we get:

$$Q_b \propto (Q)^{5.4} \tag{35}$$

The exponent of 5.4 in Eq. 35 is specific to this example, and we should not think of it as a hard number. We say this for several reasons. First, the specific value depends on the exponent in the transport relation (b = 7.5 in the relation used in this example). Second, the derivation of (35) was simplified by assuming B, n, and S were constant, which is not likely to be the case in natural channels. Third, as Barry and others (2004) have suggested, the rating curve exponent may be influenced by other factors, such as runoff regime (rainfall versus snowmelt) and sediment supply. Nevertheless, in the absence of strong constraints on bed load transport, or systematic errors in sampling, Eq. 35 serves as the basis for interpreting observed relations between Q and Q_b . This point is illustrated in figure 7, which shows relations between discharge and bed load transport in two small gravel-bed streams, Oak Creek and Halfmoon Creek. Bed load was measured in Oak Creek using a vortex sampler (Milhous 1973), whereas bed load was measured in Halfmoon Creek using a series of quasi-stationary traps (Bunte and Swingle 2005). These data are of high quality, and in both cases there is a strong correlation between bed load transport rate and discharge. The exponents are slightly different from each other, but they bracket the proposed value of 5.4 given in Eq. 35.



Figure 7. Observed relations between discharge and bed load transport. Data for Oak Creek from Milhous (1973); data for Halfmoon Creek from K. Bunte and Swingle 2005.

The steep slopes exhibited by these data reinforce the point made earlier that transport rates can vary by several orders of magnitude over the range of observed discharges. Small differences in discharge produce large differences in transport rate. More to the point, the data depicted above compare favorably with the derived transport relation (35), thus we might use these examples as a basis for comparing measurements in other settings where there is more uncertainty in the data. Four additional examples follow, with the predicted transport relations added for comparison. The predicted relations are developed using the surface-based equation of Parker (1990a) and appropriate data and information from field studies of flow and bed load transport in streams and rivers in Idaho (King and others 2004).

Selway River Near Lowell, ID

The Selway River is an example of a large self-formed gravel-bed river with no apparent limit to sediment supply. The data used in this example are based on measurements taken at a gauging station operated by the USGS, station number 13336500. Site characteristics are described as follows:



- Slope = 0.0021
- Surface $D_{50} = 186 \text{ mm}$
- Subsurface $D_{50} = 24 \text{ mm}$
- Drainage area = 4947 km^2
- Bankfull discharge = $652 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$

Most of the bed load measurements at this location were taken during periods of peak snowmelt runoff in 1994 and 1995. Several additional samples were taken during floods in December 1995 and May 1997. The data set includes 72 paired measurements of discharge and bed load; field surveys of bed- and water-surface slope; and multiple samples of the surface and substrate. Bed load was measured with the Helley-Smith sampler, with 40 percent of the samples taken at discharges greater than one-half of the bankfull discharge.

The data from the Selway River form a very tight relation between water discharge, Q, and bed load discharge, Q_b (fig. 8A). A power law fit of these data yields the equation:

$$Q_b = 3.85 \text{E-12} \ Q^{4.92} \tag{36}$$

where Q is in cubic meters per second and Q_b is in metric tons per day. This relation is statistically significant, with $r^2 = 0.92$ and p < 0.001. The exponent in this equation is relatively high (~5), similar to the best-fit relations for Oak Creek and Halfmoon Creek. The panel to the right (fig. 8B) compares the observed transport rates with the predicted transport rates estimated using the surface-based equation of Parker (1990). In this case, the predicted bed load transport rates match the observations quite closely. This result is encouraging, but somewhat of an exception—this is one of the few data sets we have worked with where the transport relation fits the data closely with no tuning or adjustment in the parameters.



Figure 8. Relations between discharge and bed load transport rate, Selway River near Lowell, Idaho, USGS, station number 13336500. (A) Shows a least squares fit of the data and (B) shows the predicted relation obtained with the surface-based equation of Parker (1990a), with sand-size fractions included.

Rapid River

The Rapid River is an example of a steep gravel- and cobble-bed river. The site description indicates that the reach is bordered by a floodplain, thus it would be reasonable to conclude that, even if the reach is steep, the channel is self-formed. This gage is operated by the U.S. Forest Service. Site characteristics are:



- Slope = 0.0108
- Surface $D_{50} = 79 \text{ mm}$
- Subsurface $D_{50} = 16 \text{ mm}$
- Drainage area = 280 km^2
- Bankfull discharge = 17.7 m³/s

Bed load samples were taken at this location from 1990 through 2004; the majority of samples were taken during spring runoff. The data set for this station includes: 190 paired measurements of discharge and bed load; surveys of bedand water-surface profiles; and samples of the surface and substrate. Bed load was measured with the Helley-Smith sampler, with 38 percent of the bed load samples taken at discharges greater than one-half of the bankfull discharge.

The observed transport relation for the Rapid River is relatively strong (fig. 9), although the data exhibit considerable scatter for measurements taken below $\sim 10 \text{ m}^3$ /s. The question is: How much weight should we give the low-flow samples? Using all data, the best-fit equation is:

$$Q_b = 0.0086 \ Q^{2.23} \tag{37a}$$

This relation is statistically significant ($r^2 = 0.59$; p < 0.001). However, it is evident that at high discharges this equation would underestimate bed load transport rates by more than an order of magnitude. Thus, if we consider only flows greater than 10 m³/s (~60 percent of bankfull), the relation formed by the data is much different. The least squares equation in that case is:

$$Q_b = 6.74 \text{E-06} \ Q^{4.88} \tag{37b}$$

which is also statistically significant ($r^2 = 0.88$; p < 0.001). This second relation provides a better fit to the high-flow values and the exponent is greater than 4, similar to the equations given in the previous examples. This example illustrates a common condition in gravel rivers where bed load transport rates at low discharges are influenced by differences in the availability of sand-sized sediment, which may be supplied from sources outside the channel. At discharges greater than 10 m³/s, particles with the surface layer are beginning to move and the bed starts to become the primary source of sediment. Above this point, the modeled bed load transport relation (Parker 1990) matches the observations quite well.



Figure 9. Relations between discharge and bed load transport rate, Rapid River, Idaho. (A) Shows two least squares relations, one for the complete data set (dotted line) and the other for Q>10m³/s (solid line) and (B) shows the predicted transport relation obtained with the surface-based equation of Parker (1990a).

South Fork Salmon River Near Krassel Ranger Station, ID

The South Fork Salmon River is an example of a moderate-sized gravel river that carries a moderately high sediment load. The site description indicates that the study reach is bordered by a floodplain, thus it appears that the channel is self-formed. This station is operated by the USGS (station 13331070).



- Slope = 0.0025
- Surface $D_{50} = 38 \text{ mm}$
- Subsurface $D_{50} = n/a$
- Drainage area = 855 km^2
- Bankfull discharge = $70.8 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$

Bed load samples were taken at this location over two time periods, 1985 to 1986, and 1994 to 1995. The majority of samples were taken during spring runoff. The data set includes: 130 paired measurements of discharge and bed load; surveys of bed- and water-surface profiles; and samples of the bed surface (no substrate samples were taken at this site). Bed load was measured with the Helley-Smith sampler, with 57 percent of the samples taken at discharges greater than one-half the bankfull discharge.

The observed transport relation at this site appears to be relatively good (fig. 10A). The equation of the trend line is:

$$Q_b = 1.97 \text{E-04} \ Q^{3.00} \tag{38}$$

which is statistically significant ($r^2 = 0.62$ and p < 0.001). The exponent in this equation is lower than in previous examples, and it appears that the fitted line has a lower slope than the trend formed by the data. This is not an uncommon result in fitting a power law to a data set that is not log-linear, or a data set that might include outliers. Eliminating the five values corresponding to $Q < 10 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ gives an exponent of about 4, similar to the previous examples.

In this example, the comparison between observed and modeled transport rates produces an interesting result (fig. 10B). An initial calculation based on Parker's surface-based relation gives the solid curve to the right of the data. This curve parallels the data, but is offset to the right, meaning the predicted transport rates are much less than the observed transport rates. The difference arises because the reference Shields stress used in the calculations is either too high or the grain size measured in the field is coarser than the sediment being supplied to the river. A second calculation, based on the calibration approach of Wilcock (2001), gives the relation indicated by the dotted line. This relation fits the data well, but the difference between the two curves suggests either that the sampled grain size is not representative of the reach or that much of the bed load is derived from sources other than the channel itself.



Figure 10. Relations between discharge and bed load transport rate, South Fork Salmon River, Idaho. (A) Shows a least squares fit of the data and (B) shows modeled transport relations. The solid line indicates the surfacebased equation of Parker (1990a) and the dotted line indicates the calibration approach of Wilcock (2001).

Trapper Creek

Trapper Creek is an example of a small cobble-bed stream (drainage area $= 20.7 \text{ km}^2$) in a forested area. The study reach is steep (~ 4 percent); however, the photograph of the site suggests that the channel is self-formed and possibly bordered by alluvial banks. The U.S. Forest Service operates this station.



- Slope = 0.0414
- Surface $D_{50} = 85 \text{ mm}$
- Subsurface $D_{50} = 17 \text{ mm}$
- Drainage area = 20.8 km^2
- Bankfull discharge = $2.6 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$

Bed load samples were taken at this location from 1986 through 2001. Many of these samples were taken during spring runoff. The data set includes: 115 paired measurements of discharge and bed load; surveys of bed- and watersurface profiles; and samples of the surface and substrate. Bed load was measured with the Helley-Smith sampler. In contrast to the previous examples, only 17 percent of the samples were taken at discharges greater than one half the bankfull discharge.

The measurements at this site form a relatively well-defined transport relation, although there is significant scatter in the data (fig. 11A). A least squares fit of the full data set gives:

$$Q_b = 0.35 \ Q^{1.80} \tag{39a}$$

This relation is statistically significant ($r^2 = 0.60$; p < 0.001); however, the exponent in the equation and the slope of the line are somewhat low in comparison to the values given in the previous examples. If we restrict the regression to flows greater than 1.5 m³/s, which is the point where we might expect clasts within the surface layer to start moving (60 to 70 percent of the bankfull discharge, see below), we get a relation with slightly steeper slope and a higher exponent:

$$Q_b = 0.124 \ Q^{3.32} \tag{39b}$$

This relation is not as strong as the previous relation but still statistically significant ($r^2 = 0.31$; p = 0.0014). Given this result, we might assume that a transport equation would fit the high-flow data reasonably well, as we saw in the

example of the Rapid River. However, when we plot the modeled relation, we see that it lies far to the left and above most of the observations (fig. 11B), suggesting that predicted loads are two to three orders-of-magnitude higher than observed loads. This level of uncertainty would be unacceptable in most situations. It is even less reassuring to know that this type of discrepancy is relatively common, particularly in steep channels (and, it is exactly this type of problem that leads people to question the utility of bed load transport equations). However, there is a straightforward explanation in this case, which probably holds true for many other high gradient channels. Specifically, Trapper Creek is a steep stream (S =0.04) with very coarse bed material ($D_{90} = 136$ mm), thus it is likely that a significant proportion of the total shear stress acting on the bed and banks is lost as "form drag" on large immobile grains and/or woody debris. As a result, it takes proportionally much more flow (and shear stress) to move the bed sediment than is actually available (see the discussion of "grain stress" in Wilcock and others 2008). The BAGS model does not fully correct for these effects, thus the model will tend to overpredict bed load transport rates in very high gradient streams. The alternative is to use a calibrated approach (Bakke and others 1999 or Wilcock 2001) taking as many bed load samples as possible at flows near the threshold for motion of surface-layer (framework) particles. As discussed in the next section, this flow typically occurs at approximately 60 to 70 percent of the bankfull discharge. If we follow this approach and selectively use observations from the highest flows to calibrate the transport equation, we get the relation shown by the dashed line in figure 10b. This relation matches the high-flow observations rather well, yet clearly under-predicts the bed load at lower flows. This may not be a cause for much concern; in typical gravel channels, flows less than about half of the bankfull discharge cumulatively carry a relatively small fraction of the total annual bed load (Emmett and Wolman 2001; Schmidt and Potyondy 2004; Torizzo and Pitlick 2004; Whiting and others 1999).



Figure 11. Observed (left) and modeled (right) relations between discharge and bed load transport rate, Trapper Creek, Idaho. In (A), the dashed line indicates the best-fit relation for the full data set, while the solid line is fit to a subset of the data, Q>1.5 m³/s. In (B), the solid line indicates the surface-based equation of Parker (1990a) and the dotted line indicates the relation obtained with the calibrated approach of Wilcock (2001).

Assessing Model Output Without the Benefit of Bed Load Data

Significant time and effort were required to develop the data sets used in the preceding examples, and more often than not, the analyses required some tuning to achieve the best results. What are the chances then of developing accurate transport relations when you have no bed load data to serve as the basis for comparison? There isn't a definitive answer to this question; however, we can approach the problem by considering some of the conditions associated with transport measurements and observations elsewhere. We can start by asking two questions:

- Does the relation fail to predict any appreciable bed load transport at flows equal to the bankfull discharge?
- Does the relation predict appreciable, or even significant, bed load transport at flows less than about half of the bankfull discharge?

If the answer to either one of these questions is yes, the results of the transport calculation should be examined more carefully. We base this suggestion on the figure below, which summarizes results obtained by Mueller and others (2005) in the their analysis of bed load transport thresholds in natural channels. They compiled flow and bed load transport data for 45 gravel-bed streams and rivers in the western United States and Canada. For each of the 45 data sets, they plotted the relation between the dimensionless transport parameter, W^* , and dimensionless shear stress, τ^* . Then, following the procedure of Parker and others (1982), estimated the reference dimensionless shear stress, τ_r^* , corresponding to the reference transport rate of $W^* = 0.002$. Using the estimated values of τ_r and local hydraulic relations, they then computed the discharge associated with the reference transport rate and termed this the reference discharge, Q_r . Figure 12 shows a frequency distribution of Q_r , expressed as a ratio to the bankfull discharge, Q_{bf} The distribution of Q_r is very nearly symmetric, with a median value of 0.67 (dashed line) and a mean of 0.68. This plot indicates that under natural (undisturbed) conditions, gravel-bed rivers typically begin mobilizing appreciable amounts of bed load when flows reach about two-thirds of the bankfull discharge. In only a few cases does the reference discharge lie above the bankfull discharge. Likewise, there are only a few cases where the reference discharge is less than ~ 30 percent of the bankfull discharge. Although conditions are likely to vary from one stream to another, we expect that the lower limit of appreciable transport will lie somewhere in this range.



The discussion in the preceding paragraph leads to another question:

• What do we mean by appreciable transport? Is there a practical lower limit below which transport rates are so small that the loads can be considered negligible?

To answer this question, we should step back a bit and recall that the bed load transport relations used here compute finite loads for all flows, even relatively small ones. This is an intended feature of the models, rooted in the basic concept that entrainment and transport are probabilistic processes. Thus, even at very low flows, there is a small but finite probability that some bed load particles will move. This point is illustrated nicely by the bed load rating curves for Oak Creek and Halfmoon Creek presented earlier in figure 7. Using Halfmoon Creek as an example, the rating curve relation indicates that at a discharge of 2 m^{3}/s (~30 percent of the bankfull discharge), the creek carries a bed load of ~ 10^{-2} g/s integrated across the channel. How much sediment is that? We won't go through the details, but if we assume quartz-density sediment ($\rho_s = 2.65 \text{ g/cm}^3$) and continuous transport, then a transport rate of 10^{-2} g/s equates to ~14 cm³ of sediment per hour-a small hand full. If we maintain the same discharge for 8 days (the average annual frequency), the cumulative load is about 7 kg, which is much less than 1 percent of the total annual bed load (fig. 13). If we then double the discharge to 4 m^3/s (~60 percent of bankfull), the transport rate increases by two orders of magnitude to about 1.0 g/s. The bed load carried by that flow is still small—less than 2 percent of the total annual load (fig. 13)—but perhaps not so small that we would consider it to be negligible. The point here is clear. In many streams there may not be an absolute lower limit to bed load transport; however, it might be argued that there comes a point where the loads are so small that they can be considered negligible.



The clearest guidance we can give is to suggest that at flows higher than about 2/3 of bankfull, bed load transport rates are likely to be non-negligible. The Parker transport models, for example, were developed under the assumption that the reference transport rate of $W^* = 0.002$ corresponds to discharges that are high enough to start mobilizing clasts within the armor layer. Mueller and others (2005) used the same assumption in their analysis, and listed the unit-width bed load transport rates, q_b , for each of the discharges corresponding to $W^* = 0.002$. Their results, summarized in figure 14, indicate that values of q_b at the reference

41

discharge typically fall in the range between 0.001 and 0.005 kg/m/s. Based on this result, we suggest that at flows near reference discharge, predicted bed load transport rates should fall somewhere in the range from 0.001 to 0.005 kg/m/s.



Having posed the question of lower limits, we should consider the parallel question of upper limits. Specifically,

• Is there an upper limit to bed load transport or is there a way to constrain high-flow estimates of transport?

The short answer to the first part of this question is, yes, but in reality, any upper limit on bed load transport is not likely to be achieved in typical gravel bed streams, except during a debris flow. The second part of the question-constraining high-flow estimates—is a bit harder to answer. The clearest guidance we can give here is based on results from previous field studies. Table 2 provides a short list of transport rates measured at high flows in various river systems throughout the western United States. The sites are located in different regions, encompassing a range of conditions (hydrology, rock type, forest cover, and so forth). The maximum transport rates were selected from data given in the various reports or from graphs showing the individual transport relations. At the low end of the spectrum, there are several sites with maximum transport rates on the order of 10⁻² kg/m/s. Several other sites have maximum bed load transport rates on the order of 10⁻¹ kg/m/s. The highest value of 3.9 kg/m/s was measured on the North Fork of the Toutle River near Mount St. Helens, Washington. The headwaters of this river were severely disturbed during the May 1980 eruption of Mount St. Helens, thus transport rates measured downstream reflect unusual conditions within a highly erosive and unstable watershed. It is unlikely that gravel-bed streams in more stable settings will carry loads that high very often, if ever. Thus,

if the predicted transport rates exceed 10 kg/m/s you should question the result. Reasonable values for maximum unit-width transport rates are more likely to fall in the range of 10^{-2} to 10^{-1} kg/m/s; however, this still leaves quite a bit of uncertainty and reinforces comments made earlier that a few bed load measurements will go a long way toward constraining such estimates.

Table 2. Examples of high bed load transport rates taken from measurements on gravel-bed streams and rivers in the western United States.

Site, reference	Drainage area (km ²)	Average channel gradient (m/m)	Bankfull discharge (m ³ /s)	Unit stream —power at bankfull (watts/m ²)	Maximum measured bed load (kg/m/s)
Little Granite Cr ¹	55	0.0190	6.5	132.2	0.115
Main Fork Red River ²	129	0.0059	9.3	44.4	0.017
Salmon R. nr. Obsidian ²	243	0.0066	12.7	59.9	0.038
Boise River ²	2154	0.0038	167	113.5	0.192
Selway River ²	4955	0.0021	651	146.7	0.023
Snake River ³	240766	0.0011	2607	153.8	0.173
Clearwater River ³	24786	0.0006	2210	85.4	0.069
East Fork River ⁴	466	0.0007	20	9.4	0.300
Jacoby Creek ⁵	36	0.0062	32.6	165.2	0.400
Sagehen Creek ⁶	27	0.0095	2.0	38.0	0.035
Virgin River ⁷		0.0040	7.1	41.6	0.003
NF Toutle River ⁸	736	0.0045	348		3.9

Data sources: (1) Ryan and Emmett (2002); (2) King and others (2004); (3) Jones and Seitz (1980); (4) Emmett (1980); (5) Lisle (1986); (6) Andrews (1994); (7) Andrews (2000); and (8) Pitlick (1992).

References

- Andrews, E.D. 1994. Marginal bed load transport in a gravel bed stream. Sagehen Creek, California. Water Resources Research. 30: 2241-2250.
- Andrews, E.D. 2000. Bed material transport in the Virgin River, Utah. Water Resources Research. 36: 585-596.
- Andrews, E.D.; Nankervis, J.M. 1995. Effective discharge and the design of channel maintenance flows for gravel-bed rivers. In: Natural and anthropogenic influences in fluvial geomorphology. Costa, J.E.; Miller, A.J.; Potter, K.W.; Wilcock, P.R. (eds.). American Geophysical Union. Washington, DC: 151-164.
- Arcement, G.J.; Schneider, V.R. 1989. Guide for selecting Manning's roughness coefficients for natural channels and flood plains. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2339. U.S. Geological Survey.
- Bakke, P.D.; Basdekas, P.O.; Dawdy, D.R.; Klingeman, P.C. 1999. Calibrated Parker-Klingeman model for gravel transport. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering. 125: 657-660.
- Barnes, H.H. 1967. Roughness characteristics of natural channels. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1849. 210 p.
- Barry, J.J.; Buffington, J.M.; King, J.G. 2004. A general power equation for predicting bedload transport rates in gravel bed rivers. Water Resources Research. 40: W10401. doi:10410.11029/12004WR003190.
- Buffington, J.M.; Montgomery, D.R. 1999. Effects of sediment supply on surface textures of gravel-bed rivers. Water Resources Research. 35: 3523-3530.
- Bunte, K.; Abt, S. 2001. Sampling surface and subsurface particle-size distributions in wadable gravel- and cobble-bed streams for analysis in sediment transport, hydraulics, and streambed monitoring. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-74. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 428 p.

- Bunte, K.; Swingle, K.W. 2005. Using bedload traps at Halfmoon Creek, 2004: transport rates, spatial variability of gravel transport and long nets. Report submitted to the Stream System Technology Center, Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 116 p.
- Church, M.A.; McLean, D.G.; Wolcott, J.F. 1987. River-bed gravels: sampling and analysis. In: Sediment Transport in Gravel-Bed Rivers, Thorne, C.R.; Bathurst, J.C.; Hey, R.D. (eds.). John Wiley & Sons. New York: 43-78.
- Clayton, J.A.; Pitlick, J. 2007. Spatial and temporal variations in bed load transport intensity in a gravel bed river bend. Water Resources Research. 43: W02426. doi:10.1029/2006WR005253.
- Dietrich, W.E.; Kirchner, J.W.; Ikeda, H.; Iseya, F. 1989. Sediment supply and the development of the coarse surface layer in gravel-bedded rivers. Nature. 340: 215-217.
- Emmett, W.W. 1980. A field calibration of the sediment-trapping characteristics of the Helley-Smith bedload sampler. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1139. 44 p.
- Emmett, W.W.; Wolman, M.G. 2001. Effective discharge and gravel-bed rivers. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms. 26: 1369-1380.
- Fernandez Luque, R.; van Beek, R. 1976. Erosion and transport of bedload sediment. Journal of Hydraulic Research. 14: 127-144.
- Gilbert, G.K. 1914. The transportation of debris by running water. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 86. 221 p.
- Hassan, M.A.; Church, M. 2001. Sensitivity of bed load transport in Harris Creek: seasonal and spatial variations over a cobble bar. Water Resources Research. 37: 1409-1423.
- Hassan, M.A.; Egozi, R.; Parker, G. 2006. Experiments on the effect of hydrograph characteristics on vertical grain sorting in gravel bed rivers. Water Resources Research. 42: W09408. doi: 10.1029/2005WR004707.
- Hicks, D.M.; Mason, P.D. 1998. Roughness characteristics of New Zealand rivers. Water Resources Publications. Englewood, Colorado. 329 p.
- Jones, M.L.; Seitz, H.R. 1980. Sediment transport in the Snake and Clearwater rivers in the vicinity of Lewiston, Idaho. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report: 80-690.
- Kellerhals, R.; Bray, D.I. 1971. Sampling procedures for coarse fluvial sediments. Journal of the Hydraulics Division, ASCE. 97: 1165-1180.
- King, J.G.; Emmett, W.W.; Whiting, P.J.; Kenworthy, R.P.; Barry, J.J. 2004. Sediment transport data and related information for selected coarse-bed streams and rivers in Idaho. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-131. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 26 p. Data obtained via USFS Boise Adjudication Team website: http://www.fs.fed.us/ rm/boise/research/watershed/BAT.
- Lisle, T.E. 1986. Stabilization of a gravel channel by large streamside obstructions and bedrock bends, Jacoby Creek, northwestern California. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 97: 999-1011.
- Lisle, T.E. 1995. Particle size variations between bed load and bed material in natural gravel bed channels. Water Resources Research. 31: 1107-1118.
- Meyer-Peter, E.; Müller, R. 1948. Formulas for bed-load transport. Proceedings, 2nd Congress, International Association of Hydraulic Research. Stockholm: 39-64.
- Milhous, R.T. 1973. Sediment transport in a gravel-bottomed stream. Unpublished dissertation. Department of Civil Engineering, Oregon State University, Corvallis. 232 p.
- Mueller, E.R.; Pitlick, J. 2005. Morphologically based model of bed load transport capacity in a headwater stream. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface. 110: F02016. doi:10.1029/2003JF000117.
- Mueller, E.R.; Pitlick, J.; Nelson, J.M. 2005. Variation in the reference Shields stress for bed load transport in gravel-bed streams and rivers. Water Resources Research. 41: W04006. doi:10.1029/2004WR003692.
- Parker, G.; Klingeman, P.C. 1982. On why gravel bed streams are paved. Water Resources Research. 18(5): 1409-1423.
- Parker, G.; Klingeman, P.C.; McLean, D.L. 1982. Bedload and size distribution in paved gravel bed streams. Journal of Hydraulics Division, ASCE. 108: 544-571.
- Parker, G. 1990a. Surface-based bedload transport relation for gravel rivers. Journal of Hydraulic Research. 28: 417-436.

- Parker, G. 1990b. The ACRONYM series of PSACAL programs for computing bedload transport in gravel rivers. External Memorandum M-220. St. Anthony Falls Laboratory, University of Minnesota. 124 p.
- Pitlick, J. 1992. Flow resistance under conditions of intense gravel transport. Water Resources Research. 28: 891-903.
- Pitlick, J. 1993. Response and recovery of a subalpine stream following a catastrophic flood. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 105: 657-670.
- Pitlick, J.; Mueller, E.R.; Segura, C.; Cress, R.; Torizzo, M. 2008. Relation between flow, surface-layer armoring and sediment transport in gravel-bed rivers. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms. 33: doi: 10.1002/esp.1607.
- Powell, D.M.; Reid, I.; Laronne, J.B. 2001. Evolution of bed load grain size distribution with increasing flow strength and the effect of flow duration on the caliber of bed load sediment yield in ephemeral gravel bed rivers. Water Resources Research. 35: 1463-1474.
- Ryan, S.E.; Emmett, W.W. 2002. The nature of flow and sediment movement in Little Granite Creek near Bondurant, Wyoming. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-90. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 48 p.
- Schmidt, L.J.; Potyondy, J.P. 2004. Quantifying channel maintenance instream flows: an approach for gravel-bed streams in the western United States. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-128. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 33 p.
- Sear, D.A. 1996. Sediment transport processes in pool-riffle sequences. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms. 21: 241-262.
- Torizzo, M.; Pitlick, J. 2004. Magnitude-frequency of bed load transport in mountain streams in Colorado. Journal of Hydrology. 290: 137-151.
- Van Steeter, M.M.; Pitlick, J. 1998. Geomorphology and endangered fish habitats of the Upper Colorado River 1: historic changes in streamflow, sediment load and channel morphology. Water Resources Research. 34: 287-302.
- Wathen, S.J.; Ferguson, R.I.; Hoey, T.B.; Werritty, A. 1995. Unequal mobility of gravel and sand in weakly bimodal river sediments. Water Resources Research. 31: 2087-2996.
- Whiting, P.J.; Dietrich, W.E. 1991. Convective accelerations and boundary shear stress over a channel bar. Water Resources Research. 27: 783-796.
- Whiting, P.J.; Stamm, J.F.; Moog, D.B.; Orndorff, R.L. 1999. Sediment-transporting flows in headwater streams. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 111: 450-466.
- Wiberg, P.L.; Smith, J.D. 1991. Velocity distribution and bed-roughness in high-gradient streams. Water Resources Research. 27: 825-838.
- Wilcock, P.R. 2001. Toward a practical method for estimating sediment-transport rates in gravelbed rivers. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms. 26: 1395-1408.
- Wilcock, P.R.; Crowe, J.C. 2003. Surface-based transport model for mixed-size sediment. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering. 129: 120-128.
- Wilcock, P.R.; Pitlick, J.; Cui, Y. 2009. Sediment transport primer: estimating bed-material transport in gravel-bed rivers. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-226. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 64 p.
- Wilcox, A.C.; Wohl, E.E. 2006. Flow resistance dynamics in step-pool stream channels: large woody debris and controls on total resistance. Water Resources Research. 42: W05418. doi:10.1029/2005WR004277.
- Wolman, M.G. 1954. A method of sampling coarse river-bed material. American Geophysical Union Transactions. 35: 951-956.

Yalin, M.S. 1972. Mechanics of sediment transport. Pergamon Press. New York. 298 p.

















The Rocky Mountain Research Station develops scientific information and technology to improve management, protection, and use of the forests and rangelands. Research is designed to meet the needs of the National Forest managers, Federal and State agencies, public and private organizations, academic institutions, industry, and individuals. Studies accelerate solutions to problems involving ecosystems, range, forests, water, recreation, fire, resource inventory, land reclamation, community sustainability, forest engineering technology, multiple use economics, wildlife and fish habitat, and forest insects and diseases. Studies are conducted cooperatively, and applications may be found worldwide.

Station Headquarters

Rocky Mountain Research Station 240 W Prospect Road Fort Collins, CO 80526 (970) 498-1100

Research Locations

Flagstaff, Arizona Fort Collins, Colorado Boise, Idaho Moscow, Idaho Bozeman, Montana Missoula, Montana

Reno, Nevada Albuquerque, New Mexico Rapid City, South Dakota Logan, Utah Ogden, Utah Provo, Utah

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, DC 20250-9410, or call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

